IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHNSON ELECTRIC AUTOMOTIVE AND ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VS.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2007-WC-00448

BETTY COLEBROOK

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

(On Appeal from the Order of the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi)

JOSEPH T. WILKINS, III (MSB No. WILKINS, STEPHENS & TIPTON, P.A. Post Office Box 13429
Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3429
Telephone: (601) 366-4343
Telefax: (601) 981-7608

E-mail: jwilkins@wilkins-law.com

Attorney for Appellants

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

I.	STATEMENT OF ISSUES		
II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	PROCEDURAL HISTORY	
	B.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS4	
	C.	MEDICAL PROOF, LAY WITNESS ANALYSIS6	
III.	ARGUMENT		
	A.	STANDARD OF REVIEW	
	B.	MS. COLEBROOK DID NOT SUFFER A NEW INJURY AT WORK IN APRIL OR JULY 2000	
	C.	THE MEDICAL PROOF IS INADEQUATE TO JUSTIFY THE AWARD BY THE FULL COMMISSION	
	D.	THE FULL COMMISSION AWARD OF 50% TO APPELLEE'S LEFT UPPER EXTREMITY AND 100% TO THE RIGHT UPPER EXTREMITY IS NOT BASED UPON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND CALLS FOR REVERSAL	
IV.	CONCLUSION		
CERT	TEICAT	TE OF SERVICE 32	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES Page
Barber Seafood, Inc. v. Smith, 911 So. 2d 454, 461 (¶27) (Miss. 2005)
Davis v. Scotch Plywood Co. of Mississippi, 505 So. 2d 1193 (Miss. 1987)
Day-Brite Lighting Div., Emerson Elec. Co. v. Cummings, 419 So. 2d 211 (Miss. 1982) 12
Dixie Contractors, Inc. v. Ashmore, 349 So. 2d 532, 534 (Miss. 1977)
Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin, 586 So. 2d 823 (Miss. 1991)
Hardaway Co. v. Bradley, 887 so. 2d 793, 795 (Miss. 2004)
Hardin's Bakeries v. Dependent of Harrell, 566 So. 2d 1264 (Miss. 1990) 12
Harper v. North Mississippi Medical Center, 601 So. 2d 395 (Miss. 1992) 12
Hedge v. Leggett & Platt, Inc., 641 So. 2d 9 (Miss. 1994)
Howell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision, 856 So. 2d 503, 511 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)
O'Neal v. Multi-Purpose Mfg. Co., 140 So. 2d 860 (Miss. 1962)
Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler, 475 So. 2d 437 (Miss. 1985)
South Miss. Elec. Power Ass'n. v. Graham, 587 So. 2d 291 (Miss. 1991)
STATUTES
MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-7
MISCELLANEOUS
Richardson v. Johnson Electric, Civil Action No. 2006-WC-01598

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Betty Colebrook alleges the same injuries to her hands, wrists, elbow, arms, shoulder, chest and neck on four separate injury dates. Did the Administrative Judge err in finding that Ms. Colebrook's complaints were a result of her prior injuries of 1997 and 1998 from which she never recovered and not the result of any activity at work during the year 2000? The Full Commission reversed the decision of the Administrative Judge and ordered benefits paid for loss of use of her right arm, 100%, and her left arm, 50%, for the two alleged injuries occurring in April and July 2000. The Commission disregarded the opinions of four medical specialists, Dr. Buckley, Dr. Zeiger, Dr. Kirschberg, and Dr. Katz, who found no evidence of C5 cervical disc or upper extremity injury, the alleged cause of her condition.

The Full Commission, in reversing the Administrative Judge, disregarded the claimant/appellee's own testimony that she was never pain free, never off medication, or working without restriction and found that "new" injuries had occurred.

The Full Commission failed to recognize that the April 6 injury fell in the AIG coverage period and that the AIG claim had been settled prematurely.

The Administrative Judge denied benefits in the latter two claims, for injuries in the year 2000, finding that Ms. Colebrook never recovered from her prior injuries. The Full Commission reversed the Administrative Judge. Appeal is made from that decision averring that it is not based upon substantial evidence and goes against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Appellants, Johnson Electric Automotive and Zurich American Insurance Company, should not bear the responsibility for AIG's ongoing injuries of 1997 and 1998. Ms. Colebrook's prior workers' compensation case was prematurely settled with AIG inasmuch as the April 6, 2000 period occurred during AIG's coverage period for benefits and treatment. There is no documented cervical C5 injury which affected her neck and either shoulder. No treatment has been administered for this diagnosis other than by Dr. Hillman, who, only he maintains that Ms. Colebrook had a cervical lesion.

From this reversal, Appellants appeal showing error, calling for reversal of the Commission and Circuit Court which affirmed.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

An appeal was made by the appellee, Betty Colebrook, from the decision of the Administrative Judge dated March 4, 2005 denying benefits for any injury alleged to have occurred on April 6, 2000 and in the month of July 2000 while Appellee was employed for Johnson Electric Automotive.

The Administrative Judge noted Appellee's prior claims were for the exact same injuries which were controverted in a consolidated separate claim, MWCC Nos. 9814793-H-0250-B and 0102216-H-0690-B. These injuries were administered by the third party administrator, AIG. These two claims were settled prior to the hearing of this matter at bar. The first two injuries settlement, which was approved by the Commission on April 20, 2004, (AIG) acknowledged surgery and treatment by Dr. Savoie for a right shoulder rotator cuff and right carpal tunnel syndrome. Dr. Savoie found that Appellee had reached maximum medical improvement for her condition and testified that Appellee had a 22% impairment to her right upper extremity as a result of her two surgical procedures. See settlement documents attached hereto as Record Excerpts Exhibit "1".

Appellee was released to return to work by Dr. Savoie and Ms. Colebrook returned to work for the employer/appellant herein, light duty, restricted duty, during which time Ms. Colebrook testified that she was never pain free and continued to take her medication.

Appellee alleges an injury on April 6, 2000 and in July 2000, but no First Report was ever prepared by Johnson Electric, the employer/appellant, for the reason that no injury was

ever reported by Ms. Colebrook to the employer/appellant herein. Ms. Colebrook was receiving treatment paid by AIG, the third-party administrator during this period of time for the same complaints alleged in her prior two alleged injuries.

Appellee's local physician, Dr. Hillman, attributed her complaints to a new injury, her C5 cervical disc. Numerous other physicians examined the appellee and performed diagnostic studies. Appellants paid temporary total disability benefits in excess of \$21,000 through November 17, 2003 based upon Dr. Savoie's testimony that a new injury occurred in April 2000. The benefits were terminated after receipt of subsequent medical reports of Dr. Evan Zeiger, Dr. Gordon Kirschberg, and Dr. Robert Buckley who found that the appellee did not suffer any new injury or surgical lesion, nor any compression to her nerve. These findings were further confirmed by Dr. Howard Katz who had reviewed records and determined that the appellee had not suffered a work-related injury in April or July 2000, but suffered with diabetic neuropathy and from her other pre-existing conditions.

From the decision denying benefits to Ms. Colebrook, the appellee has appealed to the Full Commission. The Commission reversed the decision of the Administrative Judge relying on the opinion of Dr. Hillman, and from that decision, the appellants have appealed.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

The claimant/appellee, Betty Colebrook, was 50 years of age at the time of the hearing in May 2004. (R. Vol. 5, p.169). She began working at Johnson Electric, formerly United Technologies, in February 1973 as a punch press operator, but during the course of her career, worked most of the jobs in the facility. (R. Vol. 5, p.172).

In 1997, when the appellee suffered her initial injury, she was working on heavy trolling motors, windshield wiper motors, door lock motors in an assembly line setting. (R. Vol. 5, p.173). Ms. Colebrook attempted to keep a trolling motor from falling which she testified weighed approximately 12 pounds and in the process, injured her shoulder. She ultimately saw Dr. Savoie who performed surgery on her right shoulder, her right wrist for carpal tunnel syndrome and the palm of her right hand but allowed her to return to work, limited duty in July 1999. (R. Vol. 5, pp.175-176).

Appellee was performing restricted duty when she returned to work and Ms. Colebrook acknowledged that she was never pain free following her injury and surgeries. (R. Vol. 5, p.178). It is disputed as to whether or not the appellee was actually working another job outside her restrictions when she alleges to have suffered another injury in April 2000 while packing motors which weighed two pounds. (R. Vol. 5, pp.183-184). Ms. Colebrook was working in soldering when she ceased work on October 4, 2000. (R. Vol. 5, p.192). The plant operations closed on October 31, 2001.

Ms. Colebrook acknowledged that she sought work at various locations in the Columbus area, Payless Shoes, Butler Shoe Store, and MARS Rehabilitation in Memphis, Tennessee at the request of her attorney prior to this hearing on the merits. However, she also acknowledged to Social Security that she was unable to work because of her diabetic condition, high blood pressure and surgery to her shoulder, wrists, neck as well as suffering with a stroke. (R. Vol. 5, pp.197-199). She began receiving Social Security benefits prior to the hearing on the merits. (R. Vol. 5, pp.194-196).

Ms. Colebrook also admitted that she had suffered a prior injury at Lowe's when she was struck in the head by a flower pot and experienced head and neck pain for 18 months. She settled her case for \$25,000. (R. Vol. 5, p.86).

Ms. Colebrook admitted that she was never pain free following her surgery by Dr. Savoie as well as admitting neck complaints to Dr. Savoie in March 2000, prior to her alleged injury in April 2000. (R. Vol. 5, pp.209-210). Ms. Colebrook also admitted that when she returned to work following her surgery in 1999, she was performing light duty and continued to work with restriction even though she was not pain free. (R. Vol. 5, p.216). She never ceased taking medication following her injury in 1 997 and continued to take medication through 2001. Dr. Hillman had the appellee seen by Dr. Evan Zeiger and Dr. Housley, a neurosurgeon and rheumatologist, respectively. Neither found any surgical lesion or any evidence of an ongoing injury to Appellee's cervical C5 nerve. Dr. Hillman, however, found Ms. Colebrook to be disabled from any work (R. Vol. 4, p.59) and gave her a 33% loss of use rating to her left upper extremity and a 33% rating to her right upper extremity as well as a 6% rating to her body as a whole for her cervical complaints. (R. Vol. 4, pp.56-57).

C. MEDICAL PROOF, LAY WITNESS ANALYSIS.

The time sequence of events in the medical studies contradict Dr. Hillman's position that Ms. Colebrook sustained injuries on April 6 and July 2000. Dr. Hillman utilized an EMG study performed by Dr. Marshall Handleman in November 2000 which showed right-sided C5 radiculopathy. (Ex. Vol. 3, Gen. Ex. 9). What Dr. Handleman stated in his final impression was:

Right sided C5 radiculopathy

The needle abnormalities lie in the muscle domain of the upper trunk and the C5 root. the most likely explanation is of a C5 radiculopathy. This also fits the patient's complaints of neck pain, biceps region tightness, and throbbing pain along the dorsal lateral aspect of her right forearm. The radiculopathy is mild in degree electrically. I have ordered an MRI of the cervical spine to evaluate and assess any discogenetic or structural abnormalities.

BILATERAL MEDIAN NEUROPATHIES

The above are further characterized as demyelinating in nature involving the sensory nerve fibers, located at or distal to the wrist (e.g. carpal tunnel syndrome), and mild in degree electrically.

See Dr. Handleman's report attached hereto as Record Excerpts Exhibit "2".

Appellants submit that there is no definite hard evidence of nerve root compression. Dr. Handleman characterizes the radiculopathy as mild in degree electrically. Interestingly, the MRI scan performed on November 1, 2001 was negative for any disc herniation or cord compression. (Ex. Vol. 3, Gen. Ex. 9).

Dr. Hillman sought confirmation of cervical involvement and made arrangements for the appellee to be seen by Dr. Evan Zeiger, neurosurgeon, in Birmingham, Alabama. Dr. Zeiger saw the appellee on two occasions, the first on March 12, 2002, at which time Dr. Zeiger noted normal diagnostic studies and the only explanation of Mr. Colebrook's subjective complaints was that of possible "C5 nerve damage". Dr. Zeiger found no nerve compression and reported that Ms. Colebrook was not a surgical candidate. He did recommend a cervical myelogram and CT scan. The myelogram was performed on March 29, 2002 and was interpreted as normal as was the CT scan. (Ex. Vol. 1, Gen. Ex. 2).

Dr. Zeiger's follow-up visit on June 12, 2003 was an evaluation for nerve root compression syndrome. Dr. Zeiger reported that the diagnostic studies ruled out any compression nerve root syndrome, but he did feel that the appellee had a diabetic neuropathy as evidenced by Ms. Colebrook's diminished reflexes, though no clear cut evidence of any acute injury to the cervical spine. Therefore, he recommended the follow-up EMG nerve conduction studies. (Record Excerpts Exhibit "5").

Dr. Gordon Kirschberg performed these studies on July 23, 2003. Dr. Kirschberg noted a history by Ms. Colebrook of pain, numbness and tingling in both arms for a period of 10 years. The EMG study revealed evidence of very mild right carpal tunnel syndrome but no evidence of radiculopathy, neuropathy or other entrapment phenomenon. It appears that Dr. Zeiger penned a handwritten note that there was no evidence of any pinched nerve in the neck; no diabetic neuropathy and only mild carpal tunnel syndrome. There was no indication for surgery. See Record Excerpts Exhibit "5" attached hereto.

Accordingly, there is conflicting testimony as to whether or not Ms. Colebrook even suffered a new injury with the more recent studies by Dr. Zeiger and Dr. Kirschberg during the year 2002 showing no evidence of injury. Dr. Hillman's testimony was contradicted by these physicians as well as Dr. Katz. Ms. Colebrook was open throughout her testimony by deposition and at the hearing that she was never pain free from her first injury and never stopped taking medication for her pain and discomfort. (Ex. Vol. 2, Gen. Ex. 8, pp.41-42). These other physicians and Appellee's own testimony effectively impeaches the testimony of Dr. Hillman that a new injury occurred on April 6, 2000 or July 2000.

More telling of no injury on April 6, 2000 are the medical records of Dr. Hillman. On April 6, 2000, Ms. Colebrook had lab work performed as well being examined by Dr. Hillman's nurse practitioner. No history of an injury at work on April 6, 2000 was ever reported in Dr. Hillman's office records nor do the records of Johnson Electric reflect an injury. See lab report and office notes attached hereto as Record Excerpts Exhibit "3".

Continuing complaints persisted by Ms. Colebrook from the day she returned to work in 1999 culminating in complaints to Dr. Hillman in July 2000 which were no different. Johnson Electric's HR person, Ms. Hutcheson, testified that no new injury was reported to her by Ms. Colebrook. (R. Vol. 5, pp.251-252). Rather, the appellee continued to miss time from work during the period because of her diabetic condition. (R.Vol. 5, p.228).

The Administrative Law Judge weighed the evidence that Ms. Colebrook never recovered from her prior injuries which were the subject of her settlement through AIG and the prior carrier. The greater preponderance of the evidence shows Ms. Colebrook's continued complaints were due to her pre-existing condition for which she never recovered and her other physical conditions to include diabetes, hypothyroidism, hypertension, menopause, degenerative arthritis, and her stroke, not to mention the difficulty in using her hands due to bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. Ms. Colebrook's disability is acknowledged in her prior settlement. (See Record Excerpts Exhibit "1"). More importantly, AIG and Ms. Colebrook, acknowledge that AIG was responsible for her injuries and treatment through April 20, 2000. Therein, the April 6, 2000 claim for injury was AIG's responsibility and was concluded by settlement on April 20, 2000. Appellants submit that this admission effectively

estops any claim for benefits in her claim at bar. No additional disability occurred during the period that she performed light duty at Johnson Electric when she returned to work in 1999 until she left in October 2000. No additional surgical procedure has even been performed or even recommended. Dr. Hillman insists that an injury occurred sometime in July 2000 but alleges the same complaints as he did for the April 6, 2000 injury.

Appellants submit that Ms. Colebrook's disability is related to her prior injuries or the result of her numerous other physical conditions recognized by the Social Security Administration in awarding benefits. Ms. Colebrook's prior claims for the 1997 and 1998 injuries (MWCC Nos. 98142793-H-0250-B and 0102216-H-0690-B) were prematurely settled. Her ongoing complaints should be AIG's responsibility. (Ex. Vol. 4, Gen. Ex. 19).

Moreover, the medical opinions of Dr. Katz, Dr. Zeiger, Dr. Buckley, and Dr. Kirschberg provide strong, clear and convincing evidence that no new injury occurred. (Ex. Vol. 3, Ex. 10; Ex. Vol. 1, Ex. 1, 2). These opinions and their studies should negate Dr. Hillman's opinion based upon Dr. Handleman's earlier diagnostic study of C5 involvement. The more recent evaluations of no cervical abnormality should prevail. *O'Neal v. Multi-Purpose Mfg. Co.*, 140 So. 2d 860 (Miss. 1962).

There should be no inference of causal connection to a new injury during the year 2000 when medical specialists disagreed with the opinion of the family practitioner. Appellee testified to ongoing problems from her initial injuries and surgery in 1997-98. Ms. Colebrook did not present new evidence disputing Dr. Zeiger, Dr. Kirschberg or Dr. Katz and their

opinions of no relationship to her alleged work injury. See *Davis v. Scotch Plywood Co. of Mississippi*, 505 So. 2d 1193 (Miss. 1987).

Appellee did not reconcile the differences in opinion between the medical specialist and Dr. Hillman.

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is the ultimate trier of fact in the workers' compensation cases. *Harper v. North Mississippi Medical Center*, 601 So. 2d 395 (Miss. 1992); *Day-Brite Lighting Div., Emerson Elec. Co. v. Cummings*, 419 So. 2d 211 (Miss. 1982). As long as the Commission decision follows substantial evidence, it should be binding upon the appellate court. *Cummings*, 419 So. 2d, 213.

Appellants submit that the Full Commission deviated from the standard of review and that its reversal of the Administrative Judge was not based upon substantial evidence. The Appellants herein submit that the criteria for an award, as stated in *Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler*, 475 So. 2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1985), was not followed. The Court has stated it will reverse the Commission's Order if it finds the Order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence and if the decision if found to be arbitrary and capricious. *Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin*, 586 So. 2d 823, 826 (Miss. 1991).

This decision of the Full Commission is not based upon substantial evidence and should be reversed and the Order of the Administrative Judge reinstated.

Consideration must be given to whether or not Betty Colebrook satisfied the burden of proof that she suffered injuries on April 6, 2000 and in July 2000. There must be substantial evidence to show the cause and effect connection between the accident and injury. Hardin's Bakeries v. Dependent of Harrell, 566 So. 2d 1264 (Miss. 1990). The burden is

upon Ms. Colebrook to establish conclusively each and every element of her claim. South Miss. Elec. Power Ass'n. v. Graham, 587 So. 2d 291, 294-295 (Miss. 1991).

B. MS. COLEBROOK DID NOT SUFFER A NEW INJURY AT WORK IN APRIL OR JULY 2000.

The Administrative Judge's finding that the appellee suffered her precipitating injury in 1997 and 1998 from which she never recovered and that continued complaints and treatment required therefor were a result of the prior injuries. (R. Vol. 2, pp.78-79). These injuries were identified in the prior two cases, H-0250-B and H-0690-B, administered by AIG (Ex. Vol. 4, Ex. 17); and as such, were not new injuries for which Johnson Electric and Zurich Insurance Company should be responsible.

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