IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-WC-00448

JOHNSON ELECTRIC AUTOMOTIVE AND ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

V.

MRS. BETTY A. COLEBROOK

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
HONORABLE LEE J. HOWARD, PRESIDING
(Affirming Order of Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT - MRS. BETTY A. COLEBROOK

ROBERT H. FAULKS MSB No. Post Office Drawer 866 408 Hwy 145 North Aberdeen, MS 39730 Telephone: (662) 369-8099

Telefax: (662) 369-6075 E-mail: rfaulks@bellsouth.net

Attorney for Appellee/Cross-Appellant

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

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

Physical therapist Keith Holton testified extensively about Mrs. Colebrook's condition, and how the symptoms and the treatments differed for her neck and extremity injuries and her prior rotator cuff and carpel tunnel injuries. Dr. Marshall J. Handleman reported that the nerve conduction study revealed a right-sided C-5 radiculopathy and a bilateral median neuropathy in her wrists. Dr. Handleman also reported that the finding fit Mrs. Colebrook's complaints. These were objective findings that had not previously been observed.

In August 2001, Dr. Savoie observed some atrophy of the deltoid on the right shoulder which he had not previously seen. He also noted that she had a tight spasm of the trapezius, and a decreased motion of the neck. Dr. Savoie concluded that she had recovered significantly from her old injuries, and that her neck problem was a new problem and that he concurred with Dr. Hillman.

Dr. Housley reported that Mrs. Colebrook had neck/shoulder pain, inflammation, and puffy hands.

Dr. Housley even concluded that her rotator cuff condition had worsened. The C-5 radiculopathy into her arms and related clinical findings were clearly manifested to Drs. Hillman, Savoie, Handleman and Housley, and therapist Holten after the July 18, 2000 injury, regarding injuries to her neck, right shoulder, arm, elbow and hand.

Dr. Howard Katz was retained by the attorney representing Johnson Electric Automotive.

<u>Katz</u> reviewed medical records but <u>never personally examined or treated</u> Mrs. Colebrook. <u>Marshall</u> <u>Durbin v. Warren</u>, 633 So. 2d 1006, 1010 (Miss. 1994) (expert testimony based upon inadequate or incomplete examination does not carry as much weight); <u>Johnson v. Ferguson</u>, 435 So. 2d 1191, 1193-1195 (Miss. 1983) (Commission decision was against overwhelming weight of evidence when it disregarded testimony of treating physician and instead relied on employer's expert).

The Commission had the right to base its decision on findings of the treating physicians and therapist – Hillman, Savoie, Handleman, Housley and Holton - rather than Katz who simply reviewed records, and never met Mrs. Colebrook, and this is no basis to overturn the Commission award. Compare Raytheon Aerospace v. Miller, 850 So. 2d 1159, 1176 (Miss. App. 2002) (treating physicians' opinions carry more weight than those of physicians who examine the claimant solely for purposes of testifying); Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Harris, 837 So. 2d 789 (Miss. App. 2003) (courts favor testimony of treating physicians); Clements v. Welling Truck Service, Inc., 739 So. 2d 476, 478 (Miss. App. 1999). 3

The Carrier/Employer argues that Mrs. Colebrook alleged the exact same complaints in all her Petitions to Controvert, and that she was never pain-free. The Carrier/Employer never seemed to comprehend that a new complaint about pain in the C-5 area and an old complaint about the C-8 area

³ The Commission had the right to base its decision on findings of the treating physicians and therapist rather than any perceived different conclusions by Kirschberg or Zeiger. Kirschberg apparently did a limited EMG study that failed to reveal evidence of radiculopathy in July 2003, but did not otherwise examine or treat Colebrook or testify or offer any other medical opinion. See Mueller Copper Tube Co., Inc. v. Upton, 930 So. 2d 428 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) ("Commission is entitled to favor the testimony of a treating physician over a physician who had seen the claimant only once"); Raytheon Aerospace Support Services v. Miller, 850 So. 2d 1159 (Miss. App. 2002) (opinion of orthopedist who saw claimant only once could not trump opinion of treating physician). Dr. Hillman testified that the physical therapy tractions done on Mrs. Colebrook would explain the absence of a positive July 2003 EMG study finding, but that she still had a damaged nerve. Zeiger saw Colebrook twice and never testified, but initially opined that Mrs. Colebrook had a C5 nerve that was damaged without ongoing compression in March 2002, then later opined that she had definitely had diabetic neuropathy and possibly radiculopathy in June 2003, and apparently last opined that she had neither diabetic neuropathy nor a pinched nerve in July 2003. It is difficult to reconcile Zeiger's own opinions, much less attempt to reconcile them with opinions of other doctors from either side.

of the neck are different even though they are both in the neck. The Carrier/Employer never seemed to comprehend that a new complaint about pain radiating from the neck down into the shoulder is a different complaint than an old complaint about a rotator cuff tear in the shoulder, even though both cause pain in the shoulder.

The treating doctors stated that they were observing different problems. Even if the injuries were in fact in the same area it would not aid the Employer/Carrier. Compensation can be awarded for aggravation of old injuries or injuries resulting from cumulative, repetitive trauma. See Chapman, Dependents of v. Hanson Scale Co., 495 So. 2d 1357, 1360 (Miss. 1986) ("injury ... arises out of and in the course of employment even when the employment merely aggravates, accelerates or contributes to the injury"); Craft v. Millcreek Rehabilitation Center, 854 So. 2d 508 (Miss. App. 2003)(when an injury comes as the result of a succession of accidents, the insurance carrier covering the risk at the time of the most recent injury bearing a causal relation to the disability is liable for the entire compensation).

The Carrier/Employer also argues that Mrs. Colebrook had diabetic neuropathy, menopause, hypertension and other health problems, that Mrs. Colebrook told the Social Security Administration about her health problems, and that this somehow indicates that she did not sustain an on-the-job injury and disability. This is of no benefit to the Carrier/Employer and this is no basis to overturn the Commission award. An award can be based on disability that is in part caused by the on-the-job injury. Sharpe v. Choctaw Electronics Enterprises, 767 So. 2d 1002 (Miss. 2000) (claimant's employment need not have been sole cause of injury to be compensable); Chapman, Dependents of v. Hanson Scale Co., 495 So. 2d 1357 (Miss. 1986) (claim for benefits is compensable if injury is in part work connected); Prince v. Nicholson, 229 Miss. 718, 91 So. 2d 734 (1957) (work of employee

need only be a contributing cause to be compensable). Social Security in fact awarded disability to her for the primary cervical disc condition, even though she had other health problems. The treating doctors and therapist also said it was her work injury that caused her disability, not her other health concerns. She made a full recovery from a subsequent minor stroke and was no longer being treated for that, and her diabetic and other conditions were controlled by medication

Zurich now argues that Mrs. Colebrook's settlement with United Technologies Automotive and its carrier the Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania (AIG) for the prior September 30, 1997 rotator cuff shoulder injury and the right carpal tunnel wrist injury indicates that Zurich should not be held responsible for disability resulting from her April 2000 injury.4

The argument misstates the actual settlement, which expressly reserved Mrs. Colebrook's right to pursue her claims against Johnson Electric/Zurich. Further, United Technologies and AIG did not acknowledge any responsibility for new or aggravated injuries occurring in April 2000 and in particular in July 2000, when Mrs. Colebrook was employed by Johnson Electric and which was then insured by Zurich. Not only is this argument totally lacking in any merit, this argument was raised for the first time during appeal to the Circuit Court, and should not be considered. The Employer/Carrier's Answer admitted coverage in response to Paragraph 7 of the Petition, and failed to raise any insurance coverage issues in its 3 Pretrial Statements filed in the case. In fact, at the inception of the hearing before the Administrative Judge, there was no mention of any insurance coverage issue.

The Carrier/Employer also contends that there was no basis for an award for the left side extremity. This ignores the fact that Mrs. Colebrook complained about pain and difficulty on her left

⁴ One wonders what Johnson Electric thinks of this argument.

side. This argument ignores the fact that the therapist Holton objectively measured limitation of bending and rotation on her left side, and that her complaints were consistent with the objective findings. This ignores the fact that Drs. Hillman, Housley and Buckley reported bilateral conditions, in both extremities. It ignores the fact that Dr. Hillman related the left side condition to Mrs. Colebrook trying to compensate for her right extremity by overusing the left extremity at work and the C-5 radiculopathy. The other doctors and therapist noted the cumulative, repetitive work causing this injury. It ignores the fact that the AMA guidelines to impairment expressly provide for impairment ratings based on pain and limitation of motion, without requiring surgery as a basis for impairment rating. Dr. Hillman indicated that her left side impairment would be reduced after the condition was stabilized, and the Commission concluded that her left side disability was only half of the right side disability. The Commission has "considerable discretion and latitude" in determining a claimant's wage earning capacity. Moore v. Indep. Life & Accident Ins. Co., 788 So. 2d 106, 114 (Miss. Ct App. 2001).

2. On cross-appeal, the Commission erred in failing to award temporary disability benefits to Mrs. Colebrook for the additional period that she did not work from July 20 through August 9, 2000, as a result of the on-the-job injury and under express orders from a physician not to work.

The claimant, Mrs. Betty Colebrook, was initially temporarily disabled, and in need of active medical management commencing July 18, 2000, and was unable to work from July 20, 2000 through August 9, 2000, or fifteen work days or three work weeks, as a result of her on-the-job injury. Dr. Hillman restricted her from returning to work. The employer and carrier failed to pay any temporary disability benefits to Mrs. Betty Colebrook for this initial compensable period. There is no factual dispute about this oversight, and the Commission should have awarded temporary disability benefits for this period in its award.

3. On cross-appeal, the Commission erred in apportioning Mrs. Colebrook's right arm injury award by 22% since her prior shoulder injury did not result in any permanent medical restrictions and no occupational disability, and she had returned to work full-time after being released from treatment after her prior shoulder injury.

The apportionment statute, Miss. Code Ann §71-3-7, has no application on the facts of this matter. Compere's Nursing Home v. Hamledary, 841 So. 2d 154 (Miss. App. 2002) (evidence supported Commission's finding that claimant's back injury was not a pre-existing injury where treating physician testified that claimant had reached maximum medical improvement before her second injury and that second injury worsened something that had healed or caused something that had healed to rupture again); Walls v. Hodo Chevrolet Co., Inc., 302 So. 2d 862 (Miss. 1974) (To be entitled to apportionment, employer must prove that pre-existing condition continued to exist and was a material contributing factor in the results following the injury complained of).

Perhaps the leading case on apportionment is <u>Stuart's Inc. v. Brown</u>, 543 So. 2d 649 (Miss. 1989). In that case, the claimant Nellie Brown had suffered a prior back injury and underwent laminectomy surgeries, and was assigned a 15% permanent partial medical or functional disability, but eventually returned to work. Brown later suffered another work injury and was unable to return to work. Stuart's Inc. argued that apportionment should apply simply because of the medical or functional disability rating, without any proof of "occupational disability". The Supreme Court held that: in work-connected injury cases where the evidence establishes (a) successive injuries experienced by the employee where following the first injury the employee engages in full-time employment for a substantial period of time prior to the second injury; *or* (b) a preexisting (symptomatic or asymptomatic) condition which causes the employee to experience no pre-injury occupational disability, apportionment may not be ordered. Id. at p. 655.

Dr. Savoie noted in his report of August 21, 2001, that prior to his release of Mrs. Colebrook

in early 2000 a nerve conduction study had been done that was normal and did not show evidence of C-5 radiculopathy or carpal tunnel, that her shoulder looked good and she had been released to return to work without restrictions. She returned to work, and had been working considerable overtime hours for several months before the injury of July 18, 2000. Drs. Savoie and Hillman stated that she had a new injury. The old injury was not a material contributing factor and did not prevent her from work at all. Her old injury did not cause any "occupational disability", since she was working full time and had no medical work restrictions. Her new injury award should not have been reduced by the impairment rating from an old injury that did not prevent her from working.

4. On cross-appeal, the Commission erred in not also awarding benefits to Mrs. Betty Colebrook for a whole body injury.

Mrs. Betty Colebrook suffered a medical permanent rating of 6% to her body as a whole from a cervical condition, with limitations that prevent her from returning to her pre-injury employment or any other employment. Her scheduled member injuries of 33% impairment ratings also prevent her from returning to work.

The employer's rehabilitation consultant acknowledged that Mrs. Colebrook is unemployable, and the employer was unable to assign any work to her. Mrs. Betty Colebrook has applied for work at several other places, without success, and has been determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration. She is physically unable to perform the work she was assigned at Johnson Electric Automotive or any other work. Mrs. Betty Colebrook's treating doctor has instructed her not to seek employment anywhere due to her work injuries. Compare Stewart v. Singing River Hospital System, 2005 So. 2d (2004-WC-00707-COA) ("When a claimant has been removed from work and declared totally disabled based on competent medical evaluation, there is no requirement that the claimant go against medical advice and seek employment").

The logical conclusion from these facts is that Mrs. Colebrook has a permanent and total loss of industrial use and a permanent and total loss of wage earning capacity. Mrs. Betty Colebrook established that she is totally and permanently disabled as a result of an on-the-job injury while employed by Johnson Electric Automotive, on July 18, 2000. "Factors which this Court has considered in determining loss of wage earning capacity include the amount of education and training which the claimant has had, his inability to work, his failure to be hired elsewhere, the continuance of pain, and any other related circumstances." McGowan v. Orleans Furniture Inc., 586 So. 2d 163, 167 (Miss. 1991). An injured employee establishes a prima facie case of disability by showing that, she cannot secure work in the same or other jobs at pre-injury pay. Ga. Pac. Corp. v. Taplin, 586 So. 2d 823, 827 (Miss. 1991). An award for 450 weeks permanent disability should have been awarded.

CONCLUSION

On direct appeal, the Order and Award of the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission should be affirmed. None of the arguments raised by the Employer/Carrier are a proper basis on appeal to overturn an award by the Commission. The arguments are simply interpretations of evidence, in several matters an incorrect assertion of the evidence actually presented, and Employer/Carrier have not raised any errors of law.

The Commission failed to award temporary disability from July 20 thru August 9, 2000. This appears to be an oversight since it cannot be disputed that Mrs. Colebrook did not work during that period due to doctor's orders for her on-the-job injury.

The Commission should not have given apportionment to Zurich/Johnson Electric because of Mrs. Colebrook's prior injury that simply resulted in an impairment rating, but did not result in any

restrictions by Dr. Savoie or prevent her from finally returning to full time work, and did not result in "occupational disability" as required by the Stuarts' v. Brown case.

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